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Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

RYAN OWINGS,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No.  04-0510 PH




)

MISSOURI BOARD OF PHARMACY,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


We deny the application for registration as a pharmacy technician that Ryan Owings filed with the Board of Pharmacy (“the Board”) and place Owings on the employee disqualification list (“EDL”) for five years, effective from March 25, 2004.
Procedure


On March 25, 2004, the Board mailed a letter to Owings informing him that it had placed his name on the EDL for five years.  On April 22, 2004, Owings appealed to us.  We held a hearing on October 6, 2004.  Brian C. Hey, of Inglish & Monaco, represented Owings.  Assistant Attorney General Stacy Yeung represented the Board.  The last written argument was filed on December 16, 2004.  

Findings of Fact

1.
Lee’s Summit Municipal Ordinance § 17-240 provides in subsection A:

It shall be unlawful for any person to sell, give away, manufacture, use or possess for any purpose whatever any controlled substance except as provided in this section.

2.
Owings possessed marijuana.  On September 14, 2000, Owings pled guilty to possessing marijuana, a violation of Lee’s Summit Municipal Ordinance § 17-240, in the municipal court of Lee’s Summit, Missouri.  The court suspended the imposition of sentence and placed Owings on 24 months of probation.

3.
Owings possessed marijuana a second time.  On April 4, 2002, Owings pled guilty to possessing marijuana, a violation of Lee’s Summit Municipal Ordinance § 17-240, in the municipal court of Lee’s Summit, Missouri.  The court suspended the imposition of sentence and placed Owings on 24 months of probation.

4.
On March 25, 2003, Owings filed with the Board an application for registration as a pharmacy technician.  

5.
On his application, Owings checked “yes” to the following:


1.  Are you now charged in any criminal prosecution, or have you ever been adjudicated guilty or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in any criminal prosecution in Missouri, in any other state, or in a United States court:  (a) for any offense relating to drugs, narcotics, controlled substances or alcohol, whether or not sentence was imposed? 

*   *   *


2.  Have you ever: . . . (c) Violated the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, or any other state or country, or the United States?

6.
Question 5 on the application instructed:


5.  If you answered “yes” to any part of questions 1 or 2, please give all details and explain “yes” answer fully, on a separate sheet and attach copies of all applicable court documents.  In addition, state where offense occurred (city/state). . . .

7.
To question 5, Owings answered, “I have pled guilty to possession of marijuana in Lee’s Summit, Mo.”  He submitted no court documents.

8.
At the February 2004 board meeting, the Board decided to place Owings’ name on the EDL for five years because he “pled guilty to possession of a controlled substance a violation of § 338.055.1.2(2) [and] (15).”

9.
By letter dated March 25, 2004, the Board notified Owings of its decision.

10.
Owings filed an appeal with us on April 22, 2004.

Conclusions of Law

Sections 338.013.7
 gives us jurisdiction of the complaint:  “Any person who receives notice that the board intends to place the person’s name on the employment disqualification list may file an appeal with the administrative hearing commission as provided in chapter 621, RSMo.”  Although Owings testified that he was working as a pharmacy technician at a Target store,
 neither party asserts or presents evidence that the Board ever granted Owings’ application to register as a pharmacy technician.  Therefore, the Board’s letter of March 25, 2004, not only placed Owings on the EDL, but also, in effect, denied his application to register as a pharmacy technician.  Section 621.120 provides that when an applicant appeals a denial, the applicant has the burden of proving that he or she is qualified for registration.  Section 621.120 also authorizes us to decide whether Owings’ application should be granted and whether he should be placed on the EDL.  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 613-615 (Mo. App., W.D. 1974).   

Application for Registration as Pharmacy Technician

Section 338.013 sets forth the provisions regarding applications to register pharmacy technicians: 


1.  Any person desiring to assist a pharmacist in the practice of pharmacy as defined in this chapter shall apply to the board of pharmacy for registration as a pharmacy technician.  Such applicant shall not have engaged in conduct or behavior determined to be grounds for discipline pursuant to this chapter.  Such applicant shall forward to the board the appropriate fee and written application on a form provided by the board.  Such registration shall be the sole authorization permitted to allow persons to assist licensed pharmacists in the practice of pharmacy as defined in this chapter.


2.  If an applicant has submitted the required fee and an application for registration to the board of pharmacy, the applicant for registration as a pharmacy technician may assist a licensed pharmacist in the practice of pharmacy as defined in this chapter for a period of up to ninety days prior to the issuance of a certificate of registration. . . .

To grant or deny Owings’ application, we must decide whether he “engaged in conduct or behavior determined to be grounds for discipline pursuant to this chapter.”  The Board maintains that Owings’ conduct is cause for discipline under § 338.055.2(2) and (15), RSMo Supp. 2003: 

2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration . . . for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *


(2) The person had been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed; 

*   *   *


(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]

Placing Owings on the EDL 

Section 338.013.5 sets forth what grounds are needed to place a pharmacy technician on the EDL:


5.  The board shall maintain an employment disqualification list of the names of all pharmacy technicians who have been adjudicated and found guilty, or have entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to violation of any state, territory or federal drug law, been found guilty, pled guilty or nolo contendere to any felony or have violated any provision of subdivision (2), (3), (4), (6), (7), (11), (12) or (15) of subsection 2 of section 338.055.

Subsection 5 refers only to placing on the EDL the names of “pharmacy technicians” who have been guilty of certain violations.  Because subsection 2 allows applicants to work as pharmacy technicians before the Board grants the application, we interpret subsection 5 to apply to applicants as well as to registered pharmacy technicians.  Accordingly, we apply subsection 5 to Owings.

The Board asserts the same causes to place Owings’ name on the EDL as for denying the application:  Owings’ pleas of guilty to the municipal ordinances prohibiting marijuana possession, which is cause for discipline or denial under § 338.055.2(2), RSMo Supp. 2003, and the conduct underlying the guilty pleas, which is cause for discipline or denial under § 338.055.2(15), RSMo Supp. 2003.  

Guilty Pleas 

The Board entered evidence, per agreement with Owings, of the five guilty pleas to Lee’s Summit ordinance violations in Respondent’s Exhibit 4, with the text of the violated ordinances in Respondent’s Exhibit 2.  Two of the guilty pleas were to the ordinance banning the possession 

of controlled substances.  The other guilty pleas pertained to one violation of the ordinance prohibiting stealing and two violations of the ordinance prohibiting possession of alcoholic beverages by a minor.  While the Board’s answer to the complaint sets forth all five guilty pleas, the Board asserts only the two marijuana possession guilty pleas as its reason for placing Owings on the EDL.  Therefore, we disregard the guilty pleas other than those for marijuana possession.  

Owings raises the issue of whether a plea of guilty to a violation of a municipal ordinance is “a plea of guilty . . . in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state[.]”  Section 338.055.2(2), RSMo Supp. 2003.  The Board contends that the phrase includes pleas of guilty to municipal ordinances because they are “under” state law in the sense of being subordinate.  “But a city ordinance being subordinate to a State law is void if it conflicts with the State law.  The State law is paramount.  The ordinance must conform.”  Vest v. Kansas City, 194 S.W.2d 38, 39 (Mo. 1946).  

The Board’s attempt to define “under” in this way does not take into consideration the rest of the language in subdivision 2.  The language expressly refers to guilty pleas “in a criminal prosecution.”  Municipal proceedings are civil, not criminal, matters.  
Initially, we note that the law in Missouri considers violations of municipal ordinances to be civil matters, but requires courts to apply the criminal standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt because of the quasi-criminal aspects involved.  

City of Cape Girardeau v. Jones, 725 S.W.2d 904, 907 (Mo. App., E.D. 1987).  Therefore, Owings’ guilty pleas to marijuana possession under a municipal ordinance were not in a “criminal prosecution.”  


The Board relies on the disciplinary case of State Board of Nursing v. Barr, No. 02-0190 BN (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Aug. 13, 2002).  This Commission found cause to discipline a nurse because she had three DWIs, one of which was a guilty plea in municipal court.  The 

statutory cause for discipline was identical to § 338.055.2(2).  The case was decided on a motion for summary determination based on a request for admissions to which Barr never responded.  Because Barr did not contest the motion, there was no issue raised about whether the municipal ordinance plea was “a plea of guilty . . . in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state[.]”  Although this Commission values consistency among its decisions, administrative decisions are not binding precedent.  Central Hardware Co. v. Director of Revenue, 887 S.W.2d 593, 596 (Mo. banc 1994).  Even if they were, a case in which a particular point of law is not raised and contested is a weak precedent for that point of law.  

Because Owings’ guilty pleas to marijuana possession were not in a “criminal prosecution,” they cannot serve as a basis for denying his application for registration or for putting him on the EDL under § 338.055.2(2), RSMo Supp. 2003.

Violation of Drug Laws 

The Board also contends that § 338.055.2(15), RSMo Supp. 2003, is a basis for denying the application and for placing Owings on the EDL.  Subdivision 15 provides as a cause for denying the application, “[v]iolation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]”

Subdivision 15 contains no references to any court proceedings having to be filed against the applicant.  It simply refers to violations of state and federal drug laws.  This tribunal must then determine whether the applicant’s conduct violates those laws.  The Board uses Owings’ two marijuana possession guilty pleas to prove the violations.  A guilty plea is a “declaration against interest” to be considered by the trier of fact as other declarations against interest.  Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d 188, 190 (Mo. 1967).  There is no dispute as to whether Owings pled guilty to two violations of the ordinance or that he violated the ordinance.  The question is whether the conduct that violated the municipal ordinance also violated any state or federal law.

Violation of State Law

First, we must determine what Owings did to violate the municipal ordinance.  That ordinance bans several types of conduct involving controlled substances.  Owings stated on his application that he violated the ordinance by possessing marijuana.  No one disputed at the hearing or in the briefs that Owings was guilty of possessing marijuana on the two occasions for which he pled guilty.

Section 195.017.2(4)(s)
 lists marijuana as a Schedule I controlled substance.  Section 195.202 prohibits the possession of marijuana:


1.  Except as authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425, it is unlawful for any person to possess or have under his control a controlled substance.


2.  Any person who violates this section with respect to any controlled substance except thirty-five grams or less of marijuana is guilty of a class C felony.


3.  Any person who violates this section with respect to not more than thirty-five grams of marijuana is guilty of a class A misdemeanor.

We conclude that Owings’ two instances of possessing marijuana violated Missouri’s 

law prohibiting marijuana possession.  That constitutes cause for discipline or denial under 

§ 338.055.2(15), RSMo Supp. 2003.  

Owings’ defense here is the same as it was to the Board’s attempt to establish that the guilty pleas were cause to deny under § 338.055.2(2), RSMo Supp. 2003:  “A municipal conviction is not a violation of state law[.]”  (Pet’r Br. at 4.)  Owings misses the point.  Subdivision 15 requires only that the Board establish that the applicant’s conduct violated state drug laws.  It does not require that any criminal court proceedings occurred under state law to 

establish the violation.  The Board establishes the violation by proving in our proceedings what the conduct was and what state drug law that conduct violated. 

Federal Law

The Board also asserts that the unauthorized possession of a controlled substance is a violation of the drug laws of the United States.  21 USC § 844(a) provides:  

Unlawful acts; penalties.  It shall be unlawful for any person to knowingly or intentionally possess a controlled substance unless such substance was obtained directly, or pursuant to a valid prescription or order, from a practitioner, while acting in the course of his professional practice, or except as otherwise authorized by this chapter or subchapter II of this chapter.  

Marijuana is a controlled substance under federal law.  21 CFR 1308.11(d)(22).  There is no evidence that Owings obtained the marijuana from a medical practitioner.  Therefore, Owings violated the drug laws of the United States.

Section 338.013.1 provides in part:  “Such applicant shall not have engaged in conduct or behavior determined to be grounds for discipline pursuant to this chapter.”  Owings violated state and federal drug laws, which  would be grounds for discipline under § 338.055.2(15).  Therefore, we deny his application to register as a pharmacy technician and place him on the EDL.

Placement on EDL or Alternative Sanctions 


Section 338.055.1, which applies generally to pharmacy licenses and registrations issued under Chapter 338, RSMo, provides that the Board may refuse to issue a certificate of registration, permit or license for any of the causes enumerated in subsection 2.  The word “may” in § 338.055.1 means discretion, not a mandate.  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  We may exercise the same degree of discretion that the Board exercised.  Id. at 614-15.  


Section 338.013 sets forth the specific requirements for registration as a pharmacy technician.  Section 338.013.1 provides that an applicant “shall not have engaged in conduct or behavior determined to be grounds for discipline pursuant to this chapter.”  Section 338.013.5 requires the Board to maintain the EDL of all persons who have “violated any provision of subdivision (2), (3), (4), (6), (7), (11), (12), or (15) of subsection 2 of section 338.055.”   These provisions might appear to allow no discretion if an applicant has ever engaged in conduct or behavior that would be grounds for discipline under § 338.055.2.  However, § 338.013.6 requires the Board to give notice of its intent to place a person on the EDL, and subsection 7 continues:  

If no reply has been received by the board within thirty days after the board mailed the notice, the board may include the name of such person on such disqualification list. . . .  The board may, also, provide for alternative sanctions, including, but not limited to, conditional employment based on a requirement that the person submit certain documentation within a certain period of time. . . .

(Emphasis added).  


Therefore, when § 338.013 is read as a whole, the Board, or this Commission on review, could exercise discretion in favor of granting registration as a pharmacy technician, subject to certain conditions, rather than denying the application.  The Board’s Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.700(5) effectuates § 338.013.7, providing: 


Any person whose name appears on the disqualification list may be employed as a pharmacy technician subject to any restrictions or conditions ordered by the board.  As an alternative to barring an individual from employment in a pharmacy, the board may consider restricted forms of employment or employment under special conditions for any person who has applied for or holds a registration as a pharmacy technician.

(Emphasis added).  


The Board’s decision was to place Owings on the EDL for five years.  The Board’s Answer contends that Owings’ disqualification is based on his violations of state and federal 

drug laws.  Owings possessed marijuana in 2000.  Even though he was prosecuted in municipal court for that conduct, he again possessed marijuana in 2002.  Owings presented no evidence as to any mitigating circumstances surrounding the offenses.  Owings presented no evidence of rehabilitation and made no assertions at the hearing that he was not going to engage in such conduct anymore.  It is clear that Owings intends to pursue employment as a pharmacy technician, since he testified that this was how he was employed at the time of the hearing.  We find no basis for granting Owings restricted forms of employment or making other arrangements to mitigate his placement on the EDL.  Therefore, we place Owings on the EDL for five years.
Summary

We conclude that Owings is not subject to denial under § 338.055.2(2), RSMo Supp. 2003.  

We conclude that Owings’ two instances of possessing marijuana are violations of state and federal drug laws and are therefore cause for denial under § 338.055.2(15), RSMo Supp. 2003.  

We deny Owings’ application for pharmacy technician registration and place him on the EDL.  Owings will remain on the EDL for five years, effective from March 25, 2004, the date of the Board’s notice of intent to disqualify. 

SO ORDERED on February 28, 2005.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP



Commissioner

	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.  





	�Tr. at 6.  Section 338.013.2 allows an applicant to work as a pharmacy technician for up to ninety days after filing an application and before getting a certificate of registration.  The hearing was held on October 6, 2004, more than ninety days after Owings filed his application on March 25, 2003.  The Board’s Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.700 governs applications for the pharmacy technician certificate of registration.  Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.700(1)(A) and (B) allow the applicant to be employed as a technician once the Board receives the completed application and required fee, but makes no mention of the 90-day limitation set forth in § 338.013.2.    


	�The version of § 195.017.2(4)(s) in RSMo Supp. 2003, effective for Owings’ 2002 marijuana possession is identical to that in RSMo 2000.  





PAGE  
11

